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AUTHOR’S FOREWORD


The title of this book is based on an actual incident in April 1945 when the SS guards at Ravensbrück denied that they held any American or British women prisoners, and Mary Lindell produced her list from her pinafore pocket. Prior to this incident, through the black night of despair that fell on France in 1940 and the years of German occupation and oppression which followed, Mary’s passionate opposition to tyranny was turned into practical deeds. The flame of her patriotism could not be dimmed, she was fearless to the point of foolhardiness, and she continued her resistance to the Nazis even when thrown into Ravensbrück, a concentration camp which was known as the ‘Women’s Hell’, where tens of thousands were murdered.


Mary held strong opinions and she defied the British, French, German and Swedish authorities in pursuit of what she believed to be right, and when tested in the horrors of war, and life in the concentration camp, she showed herself to be patriotic, determined, careless of her own life and convinced of the righteousness of her cause. She was not young and beautiful like some of the agents who, after the war, stood in the limelight. Her bravery was sustained through more than five years of war, under the most difficult of conditions and personal danger to her and to her family.


The best-known version of Mary Lindell’s life is Barry Wynne’s 1961 book, No Drums … No Trumpets, which has since been republished under different titles. This was written after Wynne and Mary had been closeted in a hotel in England for several weeks, at the end of which Mary was sick and tired of the whole process of interview and re-interview. ‘The book was a mess,’ she told the American feminist Margaret L. Rossiter when interviewed by her, and when pressed by Rossiter as to whether the facts in No Drums … No Trumpets could be relied upon, Mary replied, coyly, ‘Mostly.’1


Starting in 1976, Rossiter taped many interviews, now in the University of Michigan State University special collections, for her 1986 book, Women in the Resistance. Her interviewees included many heroes and heroines of the French Resistance, including Mary Lindell, and when her hours of interviews with Mary were synthesised into one chapter,2 Rossiter gave possibly the best description of Mary Lindell:




A handsome woman [she was then some 80 years old] of medium height, with chestnut hair and brown eyes, Mary Lindell has a commanding personality. She liked to give orders, and she spoke with the self-confidence of an aristocrat. However, Mary was not like a traditional lady. She was sometimes ungracious and abrupt; if she thought people were phoney, she told them so. At other times she was charming, a good mimic, and an amusing raconteur. She did not like humdrum routine, and enjoyed the challenge of outwitting people, particularly the Germans.3





Two other primary sources about Mary’s life are television programmes. The first, It Happened to Me – Mary Lindell: the Escapers, was made in 1960 by the BBC and presented by Alan Whicker, and is a re-enactment of some of Mary’s wartime exploits, concentrating on the part of the Marie-Claire escape line that ran out of France over the Pyrenees into Spain, and involving some of the original participants.4 No copy survives in any archive but a rare copy has been preserved in France by Scott Goodall MBE. The second was made in 1980 as part of a series by Yorkshire TV and presented by Robert Morley,5 with the accompanying book by Kevin Sim.6 Mary also gave oral evidence to the Hamburg War Crimes Tribunal.


These oral and filmic accounts allow us to hear Mary’s memories of her experiences in her own words, and are the source of the dialogues in this book. Where Mary recounted similar events on different occasions, the dialogue is synthesised.


Two much more recent female authors have been dismissive of Mary Lindell. Sarah Helm trivialised her as ‘a bossy Englishwoman’, but Helm was focussed on events inside the camp at Ravensbrück, and she overlooked the breadth of Mary’s achievements, the complex shades of her personality, and that it was her strength of character which kept her and others alive in the camp.7


As to Mary’s character, she was every Englishman’s nightmare of a mother superior, mother-in-law, stepmother and lady master of foxhounds. Or, as her brother put it, ‘she was not just difficult with the Gestapo, she was difficult with everyone!’8 She also had the raconteur’s capacity for embroidering her stories. However, the actual achievements of ‘selfless, stubborn, arrogant Mary’ are well catalogued in the official record and well summarised by Oliver Clutton-Brock in his encyclopaedic study of escape lines in the Second World War.9


The French journalist Marie-Laure le Foulon has also trashed Mary’s reputation.10 However, she has relied overly on the witness of one other woman, and has interpreted a small number of documents in the French archives in the blackest possible way. In a range of accusations, le Foulon has suggested that Mary’s lovers included the impeccable British captain, Jimmy Windsor Lewis of the Welsh Guards, in 1940 and Obersturmführer Percy Treite, camp doctor at Ravensbrück in 1944 (two ‘boys’ who were a generation younger than her) and that in the years between she was a stooge, if not an agent, of the Germans. There is no evidence for any of this except old-fashioned French revolutionary style denunciation, but in her attempt to find evidence where none exists for these allegations, le Foulon has even submitted Mary to an examination after her death by a French psychiatre-psychanalyste.


It is moot to ask why anyone writing about the Resistance in France should choose to attack a British heroine when there are so many others whose roles in the Resistance might not bear the same scrutiny to which le Foulon has subjected Mary Lindell. This question lies heaviest on the RMA (‘Resisters of the Month of August’) and the FFS (‘Forces Françaises de Septembre’), the men and women who stood by for four years while their country was occupied, and only answered the call to arms in late 1944 when it was clear that the Allied landings were successful and that the Allies were winning the war. The question should also weigh on the conscience of the rival parties who fought each other for the future rule of France, while on 15 August 1944 they allowed the Germans to transport thousands of Frenchmen and women prisoners through Paris to suffer horribly and die in appalling conditions in Germany.


However, it is Max Hastings who has commented that most accounts of wartime agents, particularly women agents and especially in France, contain ‘large doses of romantic twaddle’.11 If Wynne’s account of Mary’s life is thesis filled with romantic twaddle, and le Foulon’s is antithesis, my account is synthesis. My lodestar in writing Lindell’s List has been finding the original records written as close as possible to the events to which they refer. If I have missed any, it is my fault.


This account of Mary’s life and achievements uses archives in Sweden, where the women on Lindell’s list were taken by the Swedish Red Cross in April 1945, which have rarely been used by anglophone scholars, and archives in Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany and the USA, which shed more light on Mary’s career and her contemporaries and colleagues in the Second World War. They enable the claims made for her and against her to be quantified. All errors of omission and commission are mine and mine alone.


Mary was not, as le Foulon has reported, a Joan of Arc. Indeed with her fervent sense of Englishness and contempt for many aspects of French life, Mary is unlikely to have appreciated such a comparison: rather she took the martyred Englishwoman Edith Cavell as her role model. However, nothing can detract from Mary’s absolute bravery, displayed not on some occasion when the red mist of anger fell upon her and drove her to do something outlandish, but bravery sustained during two world wars against all odds, and in the most difficult of circumstances. Here, then, is her life in a time of war, wrack and wonder and it is presented ‘warts and all’.


PGH


Iping Marsh


June 2016




INTRODUCTION


Hamburg, 1947


It is February 1947 in a cold, war-ravaged Hamburg. For three months a war crimes tribunal has been hearing of the sickening, dark deeds that were done at Ravensbrück, a concentration camp through which some 130,000 women passed during the Second World War and where perhaps half of them were murdered by the Germans.


There are fifteen defendants in the dock: six of them are women. They all appear to be middle class, are smartly dressed, and the women are well coiffured. They wear numbered placards round their necks. Two prisoners – Number 9, Carmen Mory, and Number 10, Vera Salvequart – both wear fur coats, and in the photographs of the courtroom they alternately flirt with the cameraman and look down demurely at their laps.


Mory is a 40-year-old doctor’s daughter from Switzerland. Well educated and multi-lingual but thwarted in her ambition to become a singer, she had turned to journalism and as a reporter in Berlin had admired the Nazis. She had spied for the Germans in France and had been sentenced to death, but the German invasion of France had saved her from being shot. Her German controller and lover gave her a new mission, to pretend to be a member of the French Resistance, but when he tired of her she was sent to Ravensbrück on trumped up charges, and there she became a trustee and one of the most feared women in the camp.1


Prisoner Number 10 is 30-something Vera Salvequart, a Czech-born nurse sent to Ravensbrück after being accused of taking a Jewish lover. There, in the camp’s medical wing, she had blithely helped to select her fellow prisoners for the gas chambers, poisoned her fellow prisoners and inspected the cadavers for gold teeth which were then ripped out.


Two other women in the dock are careful to look away from the camera. Number 11 is Elisabeth Marschall, at 61 the oldest person in the dock, and the only one who has anything of the appearance of the archetypal criminal. As oberschwester, or head nurse, she is accused, among other crimes, of having forced fifty mothers and their babies into a cattle wagon without food or water, and sending them to their deaths.


By contrast, the blonde 26-year-old Dorothea Binz, Number 5, looks impossibly demure and incapable of the dreadful charges which are levelled against her – that, as chief wardress at Ravensbrück, she slapped, beat, kicked, shot and abused her fellow women and killed them on a whim. Allegedly Binz went on romantic evening strolls round the camp with her lover, an SS guard, and her pet dog, and enjoyed seeing female prisoners being set upon and whipped. In the photographs it does seem that butter would not melt in her mouth.


The women sit on one side of the dock and nine men sit across the gangway. At the very end of the row, upright and staring straight ahead and dressed in what looks like a tweed jacket, is camp doctor Percy Treite who is accused of the neglect of his patients, ghastly experiments, forced sterilisations and killings. The number on his placard is an unlucky 13.


The court consists of seven soldiers: they are inured, even bored, by the dreadful things they are hearing from a procession of witnesses. This is a court set up under military law. The senior military officer is Major General Victor Westropp, who comes from a long line of soldiers and land owners.2 Westropp is the consummate staff officer, a bureaucrat in uniform whose greatest problem in the Second World War had been how to discipline, care for and feed 400,000 Axis prisoners in Italy who gobbled up four shiploads of food every week.


His fellow judges on the court martial are an artilleryman, a tank officer, a foot soldier and a captain of the Royal Army Service Corps, together with a Polish and French officer. Only the French officer is legally qualified. They are, however, advised by a barrister who, under the military system of justice, bears the title of Judge Advocate and in England is a King’s Counsel. His foreign first names, Carl Ludwig Stirling, belie his British nationality.3


The prosecutor is one of the few other legally qualified officers, Stephen Stewart, who just a few years before had been Stefan Strauss. Strauss, fearing his name was on a death list, had fled Austria in 1938 just before Anschluss, the Nazi takeover of that country, and had been called to the bar in London under his new name.


Emphasising the inexperience of the court, the prosecutor’s assistant is the 24-year-old Cambridge graduate John da Cunha.4 During the war da Cunha had served as a tank commander in the 23rd Hussars and taken part in the Normandy invasion, landing at Sword beach on D-Day Plus 4. Three weeks later, during the siege of Caen, da Cunha was seriously wounded by shrapnel, and while convalescing he had been summoned to the War Office to be told he was being sent to Germany to help with the preparation for the war crimes tribunals. No one showed any interest in whether or not da Cunha was fit for duty or had any legal training, but he was asked if he had a stomach injury. When da Cunha replied that he had not, he was told, ‘Good. You can eat the disgusting German food, then. Off you go to war crimes.’


Da Cunha recalled that, after he opened and read his first war crimes file, he vomited. He travelled throughout Europe tracing survivors and witnesses from the concentration camps, and reported directly to Group Captain Tony Somerhough, the head of the investigation team. Da Cunha recalled that when Binz was arrested, despite her reputation for evil during three years at the camp, she had to be carried into the prison, so badly were her legs shaking. ‘She was so terrified that the same might be done to her as she had done to others.’


It is the twenty-seventh day of the trial. The court has fallen in a routine. A steady procession of witnesses tell of the evils of Ravensbrück. Their story is monotonous, and the keen sense of horror and revulsion which Westropp felt at the beginning has dulled. He is fretting that his military career, which might have ended with a knighthood and the governorship of some remote colony, is coming to an end in this courtroom.


Suddenly the court is woken up by a diminutive figure dressed in her blue Red Cross uniform, replete with British, French and Russian decorations from the First World War. This is Mary Lindell, Comtesse de Milleville, 50 years old, gaunt but still handsome and, despite her small stature, imperious.


Stirling, who is in a hanging mood, interrupts her evidence to demand what she is doing here. Mary has already outwitted a German general, faced a German court martial that sentenced her to nine months’ imprisonment, fled through wartime France to England, returned to France to set up an escape line, been arrested, wounded while trying to flee again and thrown into the women’s hell at Ravensbrück. Now, not even Stirling can overawe Mary, and she replies, ‘Because I am British and I believe that justice is justice, fair is fair, and because we British and American women who were in the camp owe our lives to Dr Treite.’




1


ENOUGH FOR ONE LIFETIME


Mary Lindell was christened Gertrude Mary, but in her teenage years she began try out other identities and adopted the name of Ghita Mary. She was Ghita when, after the First World War, she married the French count, Maurice de Milleville, and in the 1940s she signed herself as Ghita de Milleville. Only after the Second World War did she settle for being plain Mary, and this is the name by which we will know her. Aged 15, Mary had inherited wealth from a godfather and, as she would later tell an interviewer, ‘That is why I became arrogant and independent, because from fifteen onwards I never knew what money was – do you see what I mean? It just was there.’


Riches did not save Mary from being packed off to Miss Guyer’s Girton Hall Ladies’ School, a minor boarding school in Torquay. Miss Guyer’s school was in a large Georgian house close to the seafront, but sheltered by a hill from the prevailing winds. The 1911 census shows that for the score of pupils there were six domestic staff and four teachers, two of them French, Odette St André and Magda Gautrand. Mary’s fellow pupils were a mixture of Devon locals and children of empire from as far afield as India and Australia. One of the pupils was from Hamburg and another, Denise Serge-Basset, from France. This was where Mary learned her French, which she spoke with a pronounced English schoolgirl accent until the end of her days.


Her mother, Gertrude, was a scion of the Colls family, housepainters in south London who, with their friends the Trollopes (who had started as wallpaper hangers and with whom they intermarried), had in a few generations transformed themselves to contractors and developers in booming nineteenth-century London. Their company, Trollope & Colls, built many landmark London buildings including the Haymarket Theatre and Claridge’s Hotel, though neither the Trollopes nor Colls had been heard of when the Mansion House was built two centuries before. This did not stop Mary claiming that her mother’s father was the architect of that building too.


Mary recalled her mother was ‘just a sweet woman who had so much money she didn’t know what to do with it’. A surviving picture shows Mary’s bespectacled mother in the uniform of the Young Women’s Christian Association, looking rather prim and severe.


When in her old age Mary was asked what gave her the confidence and courage to achieve so much in her life, she claimed that she had blue blood, that her father’s family were Czech who had come to England in the retinue of Prince Albert, and that she was a direct descendent of the kings of Bohemia. In fact, William Clement Lindell was from Yorkshire and was a lawyer, though he had no great incentive to practise law and preferred to spend his afternoons sleeping in his library. Whether Mary’s claim was an ingenuous, middle-class fancy or a symptom of her chronic weakness for self-deception, she certainly liked to tell a good story and exaggeration was not unknown in Mary’s telling of her life story.


Bruce, her brother, was born at Sutton in Surrey in 1894, and Mary a year later on 11 September 1895. The Lindells moved several times before settling at Marlow, on the Thames, but it was there in August 1914 that, according to Mary, the family were at table when the butler brought in a telegram for her father to read, and he exclaimed, ‘My God, we’re at war.’ Bruce was on a grand tour which had taken him as far as Chile, and his father looked first at his wife and then pointed at Mary, ‘Well, your brother’s not here, this kid can go. Up tomorrow!’


Accounts of the First World War rarely mention the mobilisation of women, except as munitions workers and into the Land Army, but as early as September 1914 a Women’s Hospital Corps had been sent from London to Paris, and by November British women doctors were, for the first time, working as army surgeons at a military hospital established in the Grand Hotel at Wimereux, north of Boulogne. Also in 1914 the French Flag Nursing Corps was established to provide a corps of certificated British nurses for service in French military hospitals.


Just before her 19th birthday, Mary became part of this mobilisation and was sent to London to live with her grandmother and to train to be a VAD. The Voluntary Aid Detachment (VAD) had been founded in 1909: confusingly each member and each unit were called a detachment, or simply a VAD. In 1914 there were several hundred VAD units in Britain and some 40,000 individual VADs. They were mainly middle- and upper-class girls who were unaccustomed to menial work.


The Red Cross, who had helped to found the VAD, was unwilling to send them abroad and the army would not accept VADs at the front line. Further, the VADs – though well represented in romantic literature, such as in Hemingway’s Farewell to Arms and Brittain’s Testament of Youth – were unused to the hierarchy and discipline of hospitals, and they lacked the skills of trained nurses. However, as the scale of the war grew, there developed a shortage of nurses to tend the wounded from the slaughter on the Western Front, and reluctantly the authorities agreed that girls older than 23 and with at least three months’ hospital experience would be accepted for overseas service.


In turn, many VADs were critical of the nursing profession, and Mary seems to have been one of these. Her training was brief and she soon clashed with authority. The matron was exasperated by her, or rather, according to Mary, ‘The matron didn’t like me. I will say I was very incompetent, but I think she must have been a bit Communist or Socialist.’1


Ordered to light the fires, she proved inept and her soldier patients used to leap from their sickbeds saying, ‘You get out of the way, miss, we’ll do it for you.’ When put on to emptying bedpans she proved no more successful. Mary’s idea was to rinse them under the bath tap, but she was scolded by matron, ‘You call that cleaning a bed pan!’


‘No,’ replied Mary, ‘But I tell you what, you’re going to find out what cleaning a face means,’ and, Mary claimed, she waved a loo brush in matron’s face. It was one of her favourite stories which sometimes ended with the embellishment that she was arrested and charged with insulting a superior officer.


VAD Mary’s clash with her matron is a metaphor for the rivalry and resentment between the volunteers and the professionals. One member of the National Union of Trained Nurses, writing from a hospital in France, complained:




[It is] now, when many of the fine ladies have returned to Paris, and others are very tired, that we English nurses are most useful … If any untrained help is employed in military hospitals abroad it certainly need not be supplied by sending untrained people from the United Kingdom, as all our Allies have Red Cross Societies which can supply untrained workers locally who are conversant both with the country and the language.2





Individual nurses welcomed the opportunity and the freedom that foreign service presented, one writing to the British Journal of Nursing, ‘It is to be regretted that the intelligent action of the French Government in employing English nurses has given umbrage to certain Red Cross ladies.’3 In fact, the profession of nursing in the USA, Britain and the British Empire was only a generation or two old, and on the Continent nursing was still dominated by nuns, who had little training. Eventually nurses from Britain, Australia, Canada, India and New Zealand (and fifteen from Japan) would serve abroad in France, Belgium, Russia, Siberia, Serbia, Montenegro, Romania, Italy, Holland and Salonika.4 Soon there were British nurses at the Scottish Women’s Hospital at Chantilly, the Glamorgan and Monmouthshire Hospital at Berck Plage, the Hospital Sophie Berthelot at Calais, the Hospital of St Paul at Cherbourg, the Hospital Militaire 38 at Deauville, the Auxiliary Hospital at Lure, and hospitals at Dieppe, Dunkirk, Aix-les-Bains, Poitiers, Rouen and many other places.5


Somehow, perhaps because the French were not so scrupulous in observing any age limits, Mary sidestepped all these efforts and in March 1915 she volunteered for a branch of the French Red Cross, the Société de Secours aux Blessés Militaires, to work in a French hospital in Dinard, a fashionable resort on the Brittany coast where the hotels and casinos were being requisitioned to become hospitals.


Mary was nursing in Brittany when, in October 1915, the news of the execution of Edith Cavell suddenly broke. Pre-war, Edith Cavell had been part of an international movement to improve the standards of nursing, and she had been recruited to be the matron of a nursing school at Ixelles in Brussels. At the war’s start she had nursed Allied wounded, but when Belgium was overrun by the Germans she nursed Germans too. In defiance of German martial law Edith began also to shelter wounded British and French soldiers who had evaded capture by the invader and young Belgians of military age, and she joined the Belgian Resistance in helping them to escape into neutral Holland. Arrested in August 1915, within a very short space of weeks she was court-martialled and sentenced to death.


Despite an international outcry which included strong representations by the then neutral US government, she was executed by firing squad on 12 October 1915. The death of a woman under such circumstances caused a wave of revulsion throughout the civilised world. One newspaper, describing it as ‘foul murder’, said, ‘the hearts of the nation will be stirred to the depths at this brave woman’s martyrdom at the hands of the arch-Hun who has fouled Europe with blood.’6 The same newspaper recorded that ‘a service at St Paul’s cathedral in memory of the martyred nurse Edith Cavell was one of the most striking and impressive tributes that the nation has ever paid within the walls of the national sanctuary’.7


Edith Cavell, who had inspired great love and respect in Belgium,8 now became in death an internationally renowned figure. The Church of England, which does not make saints, created the unusual honour of an Edith Cavell Day. However, her death was also used for propaganda purposes,9 and it was 100 years before a more objective view of her life and wartime deeds emerged.10 Nevertheless, the halo around Edith, and also Gabrielle Petit, inspired a generation of nurses and for several generations afterwards other young women have been motivated by tales of her brave conduct.


Meanwhile, Mary served on in hospitals in northern France until 1917. Little detail is known of Mary’s career during this war, but one incident is agreed by all authors. One elderly, bearded soldier, seeing Mary climb down from an ambulance, declared, ‘Look, it’s a skirt!’


His companion replied, ‘No, no, it’s a baby.’


From then on she was known as ‘le bébé Anglaise’.


Also, the local newspaper at home, no doubt primed by her mother, carried news of Mary. The Reading Mercury reported:




Miss Ghita Lindell who had been engaged nursing service in France since an early period of the war has been given the gold medal of the Russian Order of St Anne for her work in nursing wounded Russian soldiers in France. Miss Lindell is a daughter of Mr and Mrs Lindell of Kensington, and formerly of Glade Road, Marlow. Miss Lindell had previously been awarded the Medaille de Reconnaissance Françaises.11





In December 1917 she was formerly recruited into the French Army and sent to a field hospital in the Château Vauxbuin, south of Soissons, where Anne-Marie Canton Bacara was the matron.


By the spring of 1918 the fighting on the Western Front was deadlocked after four years of horrendous trench warfare when, on 27 May, the Germans opened a massive attack with a heavy artillery bombardment including gas shells, followed by several divisions of crack troops. Their aim was a knockout blow against the French before thousands of fresh American troops joined in the battle on the Allied side. The Allies were taken by surprise and within a few days the Germans had advanced 40km towards Paris, their advance only halted on 6 June when the Americans arrived at the front. The French Army, falling back in disarray, lost nearly 100,000 men, the weight of the attack falling on a line between Reims and Soissons where Mary found herself behind enemy lines.


Mary seems hardly ever to have spoken about this incident, and only briefly to Barry Wynne,12 but another local English newspaper recorded the award to ‘Miss Ghita Lindell of the French Red Cross, daughter of Mr and Mrs Lindell who formerly resided at Marlow … the French Croix de Guerre for bravery and devotion to the wounded during the French retreat in May [1918]’.13 So too did the Daily Mirror.14 The citation read:




On the 28 and 29 May [1918] while the enemy were advancing, she distinguished herself by her dedication, her sang froid, and her complete disregard of danger. After her unit had withdrawn, and despite continual bombardment, she remained at her post, where she helped to save material, cared for the wounded and succeeded in evacuating some farms where there were children and elderly who were unable to flee.15





Sim gives a freer translation of this, saying that the citation read, ‘for days and nights without number she [had] helped to save the lives of hundreds of wounded in the face of constant bombardment’,16 while Wynne, ever keen to exaggerate Mary’s achievements, wrote that she had helped to evacuate a field hospital under fire, dodging the shelling and enemy fire in no-man’s-land.17 Wynne also repeated Mary’s story that she had been reported in the Daily Mail of London as missing and presumed dead. There was a report in the Daily Mail about ‘Brave Nurses’,18 and under a story about the German advance around Soissons there was a report in the Western Mail of ‘Hospital Again Bombed/Nurses Killed: Patients Wounded’,19 and it seems likely that one of these reports was transmuted in Mary’s lively mind into a report of her death.


The medal-giving ceremony tells us a little more about Mary. She was ordered to parade in a clean apron, but when a lecherous, old French general exclaimed, ‘Ah, une jeune fille,’ and reached out to fumble with her dress, she seized the medal from his hands and pinned it on herself. Few other details have survived of Mary’s service in the First World War, though according to Wynne she was gassed and she survived a bout of Spanish flu. Subsequently Mary feigned embarrassment that Wynne had written so much about her experience of the First World War.20


Post-war, both Mary and her mother were awarded campaign medals. Gertrude, her mother, got hers for her work for the YWCA.21 Mary’s record card, in the name of Ghita Lindell, shows that after four years’ nursing in the most stressful conditions she had acquired some skills, and she is shown as an anaesthetist working for the French Red Cross.22


There are long gaps in Mary’s life story in the interwar years. Somehow she found her way to Poland, and in Warsaw in about 1920 she married a French count, ‘Maurice’ Marie Joseph de Milleville. How she met Maurice and quite when she learned that the count already had a wife and children in Normandy is not clear, but Maurice had omitted to obtain a divorce in France. Consequently, even if the Catholic Church had allowed such a thing, her marriage was not recognised in French law.


She was an innocent teenager from a Victorian family background when the war started, and she had grown to maturity under extraordinary conditions working as a nurse in a field hospital. Nevertheless, it must have been a shock to her middle-class values when she realised that her marriage was invalid. However, her use in the interwar years of the title Comtesse de Milleville does not appear to have been challenged by any member of Maurice’s family, not even his first wife. And even if in law marriage to a Frenchman gave her French nationality, Mary kept her British passport and always maintained that she was British.


She settled in Paris and the 1920s and 1930s appear to have been years of contentment. There is no hint, in anything that Mary has left to posterity, as to when she found out that her marriage was bigamous, but in August 1942 when she had escaped from France and was being debriefed by Neave, he noted, ‘Marriage not considered valid. Has lived in France since last war.’23


By 1939 she was living in a handsome Paris apartment in the rue Erlanger in the 16th arrondisement. As the Comtesse de Milleville she raised three children – Maurice, Octave (or Oky) and Marie, who was also called Barbé. Mary also maintained her contact with the Société de Secours aux Blessés Militaires, and on occasions wore her Croix de Guerre and a row of British, French and Russian medal ribbons on her uniform.


In the interwar years, the rising German menace made little difference to the pace of life in Paris, and not until 1940, when the German Army and Air Force turned from their conquests in the east and Scandinavia to blitzkrieg in the west, did the atmosphere change. Mary’s life had not been much affected, even when her husband went away on business in South America, but she was incensed by the debacle which followed when the French armies collapsed in the summer of 1940 and the Germans entered Paris as conquerors and occupiers.


However, aged 45, as a heroine in one world war and the mother of three teenage children, it might be thought that Mary had done enough and certainly as much as many another in one lifetime.
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THE AMBULANCE CONVOY


On 10 May 1940, after eight months of phoney war, the German Army and Air Force began its blitzkrieg on Belgium, the Netherlands and Luxembourg and soon crossed the border into France. On the morning of 15 May, Winston Churchill, the newly appointed British Prime Minister, received a telephone call from his French counterpart saying, ‘We have been defeated. We are beaten; we have lost the battle.’1 Churchill flew to Paris the next day where he saw that the French government was already burning its papers and preparing to evacuate the capital. When he asked, ‘Où est la masse de manoeuvre? [the strategic reserve which had saved Paris in the First World War]’, he was told, ‘Aucune’ – there was none. For Churchill, this was the most shocking moment of his life.2


Pessimism in French government and army circles mirrored folk memories of the siege of Paris in 1870–71 and the German attack on Paris in 1914. As refugees and defeated soldiery from the north and east flooded into Paris, defeatism soon turned into panic, and organisation broke down. Over the next three weeks the exodus from Paris itself swelled into a flood.


Mary had offered to help in the evacuation of the wounded and when asked to stand by at an hour’s notice to take charge of an ambulance convoy, she promised to be ready. Meanwhile she saw to the safety of her own. She asked the Red Cross if they would escort Barbé to Bordeaux and when she was refused because it would be too much responsibility, Mary sent all three of her teenagers by bicycle to Vannes, some 500km away in Brittany, to a Jesuit college where their father had been educated, trusting that a priest there would look after them.


Then she set about cleaning and tidying her apartment in the rue Erlanger and packing her possessions away. Mary, though anxious for her children, felt bound by her promise to remain available to lead an ambulance convoy out of Paris. Below her the streets grew silent. As others recalled, the social services, the Red Cross and the French government were fleeing south, having burned any papers that they could not carry.3


Mary was tuning to the BBC from London when, at 11 one morning, the telephone rang at the rue Erlanger, and a male voice asked, ‘Comtesse de Milleville?’


‘Oui.’


‘Ah, thank God! We didn’t really expect to find you in.’


‘What on earth are you talking about? I’ve been waiting here for days.’


‘Yes, I’m sorry, but things are very difficult at this end. Did you know that the whole of the Red Cross have disappeared?’


‘That doesn’t surprise me. What do you want me to do?’


‘A convoy of ambulances is waiting at Porte St Cloud. We want them taken to Bordeaux.’4


‘Very well, are they ready now?’


‘Yes.’ Her caller continued, ‘May I thank you, Comtesse? It is good to know that the English keep their word. Bon voyage.’


Mary dressed for the journey in her blue field uniform with its white apron and white wimple and, of course, the ribbons of the medals that she had been awarded in the First World War. As she locked the door of her apartment and went out into the street she met an old friend, André Huget, a tax official, who cried out, ‘Ah! Madame, I was coming to see you where you were. There is no time to be lost. The Boches are already in the outskirts of the city. Where are you going?’


‘What the hell do you think I am doing?’


‘Would you like me to tag along and help?’


‘In other words you want to get out of Paris. Have you got a permit to get gas?’


‘Yes, I have.’


‘Then follow me.’


At Porte St Cloud, Mary found eleven ambulances filled with men: some of them had been operated upon that same morning. There were some fifty or sixty men in stretchers and on the floor of the ambulances, and walking wounded sitting beside the drivers. There were no requisition papers, no petrol coupons, no instruments, no bandages – in fact, in Mary’s words, ‘no nothing’.5


Mary’s travels over the next two or three weeks, her journey westwards out of Paris towards the Brittany coast, south across the front of the advancing German Army, on to the foothills of the Pyrenees, and her return to Paris, are at once confused and incredible. According to one version, she drove via Rambouillet to Rennes, Nantes, Vannes, Bordeaux, south to Pau and back again, via le Pyla and Poitiers to Paris. Whatever her actual trajectory, the experience would influence events later in her career when running an escape line.


Undismayed by the lack of resources, Mary set out with her own car at the head of the convoy, flying the Red Cross flag on a pole. Huget brought up the rear of the column. The first 14km, along roads thronged with refugees, took seven hours. The only relief came when German aeroplanes flew over and the refugees dived for cover. Mary used the sudden opening in the line of traffic to speed ahead until, exhausted and exasperated, she decided to draw into a farmyard. There she requisitioned the entire farm, ‘Everything you’ve got here. All your milk and all your eggs and your wife – she’s got to make omelettes,’ and she wrote out her own requisition papers.6


The next morning she gave her promise to the wounded soldiers, ‘You will not be prisoners, that I swear by everything that is holy.’ On returning to the road, she peremptorily stopped the traffic by walking into the carriageway waving her Red Cross flag. For the next 16km she walked down the road waving the traffic aside, shouting, ‘Red Cross! Right of passage!’7 For three days and nights Mary’s convoy took its westerly route through Rambouillet and towards Rennes, before turning south for Bordeaux. When she was tired of walking, Mary shared the driving with Huget, whose own car had broken down and been abandoned.


Her first brush with the invading Germans was at a crossroads where a German motorcycle patrol was holding up the traffic for a column of troops on their gleaming bikes who sped across her path. She immediately engaged in verbal battle, ‘I’m the Red Cross. Kindly grant me the right of way. International law – right of way must be given to the Red Cross.’


A German officer nodded, but did not smile, ‘Yes, that is the law. Bring your vehicles up and we shall allow them through.’


Only a few minutes before, the ambulance drivers and some of the fitter patients had been berating Mary and blaming her that they might not reach the coast in time to be evacuated before the Germans arrived. Now she ordered them, ‘Into the ambulances! Follow me!’


Twenty kilometres further on, a tank blocked the road. It made no difference to Mary, who once more dismounted and advanced on the tank, waving her flag, ‘Red Cross. We have the right of way. Will you kindly remove your tank?’8


The response from a wild-looking officer in field-grey uniform was surly, but as Mary continued to argue with him another officer, ‘tall and smart, though not particularly good-looking’, slowly walked over.9 Not for the first time, Mary’s heavily accented French gave her away. ‘Madame, may I ask what nationality you are?’


And, despite her score of years married to a Frenchman, she replied proudly, ‘I’m British.’


‘I knew you couldn’t be French,’ he answered in perfect English. ‘Now what can we do? You are right. Of course we will give you right of way. Where are you going?’


‘In a few more miles I intend to turn south for Bordeaux.’


He may have been surprised at Mary’s roundabout route, ‘What maps do you use for selecting your route?’


‘The Michelin Guide.’


‘That’s no good. I will give you a good map. Now, if you follow my directions implicitly, you should have no further trouble. Drive your ambulances at about 25 miles an hour, or even up to 30, and you will move ahead of our tanks. Then you’ll come to the armoured cars. When you reach them, raise the Red Cross flag and carry on, keeping to the left-hand side of the road. Directly you get past, increase your speed and there should be no more difficulty. What do you intend to do when you have got to Bordeaux?’


‘To deliver my wounded.’


‘May I give you a little advice? If you can, move down to Pau. Bordeaux will be in the occupied zone, but Pau will not be occupied.’


Mary could hardly believe her ears. Pursuing her circuitous route she went to La Chapelle, outside Vannes, where she was surprised that her children had not arrived. Only a little nonplussed, she continued southwards via Pontchâteau and Angers until she reached Pau, 200km south of Bordeaux.10 It was typical that here Mary should have what she called a ‘blazing row’ with the doctor in charge of the military hospital. The doctor claimed, ‘I can’t take any more people.’


Mary replied, ‘You can’t take any more? Well, you’re ruddy well going to. I am a British subject and a British officer and you’re ruddy well going to.’


‘Well, your ambulances may be useful.’


‘Yes, except one, I’m keeping one.’


‘No, you’re not; you haven’t got orders to keep one.’


‘Nevertheless, I’m keeping it. And you can pick it up somewhere on the street as I certainly shan’t bring it back to you, but I happen to need it.’


Mary needed the ambulance because she had met some French officers outside Bordeaux and had promised she would return to pick them up if she could. It was another round trip of several hundred kilometres and she packed them in like sardines. Afterwards, she liked to think of them as the ‘first of the Free French’. Her second arrival in Pau was greeted by one of the young men’s parents who feted her. Mary recalled that she also got a bath.11


Only when she had rested did her thoughts revert to her children and she set out in search of them. Unknown to her, they too had cycled south and by chance at le Pyla, south of Bordeaux, she met her son Maurice. The next moment, in a most un-Mary-like manner, she was clutching Maurice to her; even she could not trust herself to speak. Maurice and his siblings had met a school friend and his parents who had brought the children south, and now they could be reunited with their mother.


While sipping coffee, Mary had to decide what to do. She would go to Confolens, where a French official had promised her a set of new tyres if she could give him a lift to his home. Maurice, she decided, would cycle to Bordeaux and stay there to sit his baccalaureate, but he would tell Oky and Barbé to cycle to Poitiers where Mary would rendezvous with them. Huget, who was still with Mary, could scarcely believe his ears and at once protested that the children should not be expected to cycle such a long way. He received a lashing of Mary’s tongue, ‘Shut up, André. You know the trains aren’t running. Anyway, do you want them to be picked up? Of course they’ll be perfectly alright, they’ve plenty of money and they can take their time. Nobody will stop a couple of kids who are pedalling along the country roads.’


Huget raised his eyes in despair, but Maurice knew better than to disagree with his mother. At dawn, mother and child separated. There is no report of Mary crying at this new parting from her teenage boy in wartime. Instead, she drove away with her French official and his promise of a set of tyres, and a young Belgian hitchhiker who had told her, ‘I’m making for Paris, Madame.’


‘Jump in. We are not going there directly, but you should get there in a couple of days.’


The Belgian boy immediately offered to pay his fare. ‘I wouldn’t dream of taking your money, but you can pay for your ride by looking after my tyres.’ The tyres were worn to the canvas and he did indeed earn his ride during repeated stops to mend punctures.


When they reached Poitiers, Mary settled to await the arrival of her children. She waited for six days until, dirty and dishevelled but brown under the summer sun and full of high spirits, they were reunited. Strapping their bicycles on the roof of the car, Mary and her children set out for Paris.
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PARIS, JULY 1940 – WE’VE ALREADY BEGUN!


When Mary returned to Paris after her epic journey, she found that the flight of French government on 10 June 1940 had been followed by some 2 million Parisians. It was a strangely empty city that the main German forces entered four days later. William Bullitt, the American ambassador in France, who had stayed in the capital to help supervise the orderly transfer of the government of Paris, reported to Washington that the German Army was inside the gates of Paris and that all was quiet. Only a few French gendarmes were on the streets as German tanks, armoured reconnaissance cars, anti-tank guns and motorised infantry paraded down the Champs Elysées while a handful of sightseers watched in silence.


On 14 June the French government had moved again, from Tours to Bordeaux, where it had gone after the German invasions of 1870 and 1914, and on 22 June it signed an armistice with Hitler’s Germany. The armistice gave Germany control over the north and west of France, and introduced an internal boundary, called the demarcation line, between the occupied zone and so-called free zone. This line ran for some 1,200km, from the Spanish border to Switzerland, and soon it would only be permitted for Frenchmen to travel between the two parts of their own country if they possessed a pass, or ausweis, issued under German authority.


Meanwhile Charles de Gaulle made his famous Appel du 18 Juin for Frenchmen to rally round him, ‘I, General de Gaulle, currently in London, invite officers and French soldiers … to put themselves in contact with me. Whatever happens, the flame of the French Resistance must not be extinguished and will not be extinguished.’


By the end of the month, however, the French government had moved for a third time, to Vichy, a spa town in central France, and there on 11 July Marshal Philippe Pétain, a hero of the First World War but a reactionary in his old age, was sworn in as head of a collaborationist French state. Henceforth, that part of France and its overseas territories that he governed would be known by the pejorative ‘Vichy’.


Meanwhile, Mary returned to Paris on 3 July where she was appalled at the breakdown of French morale. As she told Peter Morley many years later:




We were not very proud of the French. We were sick to death of them, and we knew that some of us had to stay here who could stand up to the Jerries, and could help the people through. And the French wouldn’t have done it until you could collect them together, this sacred few, but at that time there were very, very few of them. What gave me the idea that something was to be done was what Edith Cavell had done in the last war, was necessary and had to be done in this war. Who? There was nobody in Paris, or nobody who could do it, so I said there you are, darling, you are to do it.1





Mary’s reference to Edith Cavell, not the only time she summoned up this image of the martyred nurse, is telling. Edith had been arrested and executed in 1915, when Mary too was a nurse. The memory of the death of one of the leaders of her profession, which was seared into her mind, would have been reinforced by Herbert Wilcox’s 1939 Oscar-nominated film, Nurse Edith Cavell, which starred one of the most glamorous actresses of the age, Anna Neagle. Edith’s hospital in Brussels had been overrun by the Germans: Mary’s Paris had fallen under German occupation. Now, in 1940, Mary was nearly the same age as Edith had been when she was martyred, and a desire to emulate Edith Cavell would account for some of the reckless things she was about to do.


Mary was amazed at the number of German troops who thronged the city. These were combat troops, who had not yet been replaced by second-line, inferior, occupation troops. They were smartly dressed, of excellent physique and, at this stage of the war, on their best behaviour. Mary, who also liked to look smart by wearing her Red Cross uniform, was amused by how much she attracted the eyes of the occupiers. She noticed, too, that mixed among the population of Paris were men who, to her eyes, must be stragglers from the British Army who had failed to make their escape from the beaches of Dunkirk or from any of the other evacuation ports in northern and western France.


Mary looked with some scorn on German soldiers who were sightseeing and enjoying themselves, including large numbers of them at the Tomb of the Unknown Warrior, ‘standing reverently beside the flame and giving the Hitler salute’.2 She resolved to do whatever she could to resist the occupation, and her first thought was to help the stragglers to escape capture by the Germans. Her son Maurice recalled:




She considered that her job was to not think about herself. She didn’t even think about us [her children]. She was so busy and her heart was really in getting these people out. There was no other thing. It primed everything. She wasn’t a mother anymore; she was an officer doing a job which she considered was to be done.3





When Mary had returned to her apartment in the rue Erlanger she had discovered that Michèle Cambards, the daughter of a French friend and a girlfriend of Oky, was living there.4 Soon, others turned to her for leadership and two young men, also friends of Oky who had presumably heard of Mary’s adventures in June, soon sought her advice on how to leave Paris. They had heard de Gaulle’s appeal to join him in England to continue the fight and wanted to join him. In addition to these loyal Frenchmen who wanted to leave Paris and to join the Free French, there were still many hundreds of British soldiers hiding north of the Seine.


Mary invoked the image of Edith Cavell, telling her children:




If we start to help [these] people to get out of the country, we shall be running a grave risk. You may think it’s a great adventure, but remember what happened to Edith Cavell in the last war. We don’t know if there are any British troops in Paris yet, but I am sure there must be a few stragglers not so far caught. So from the beginning we must train ourselves to carry out our job with secrecy and efficiency. It’s no good helping anyone if we have the slightest doubt about them. This is what I propose to do. I’m going to put some soil in that large bulb bowl, and I shall make anyone we help swear on the soil of France to fight for his country before we raise a finger to help him.5





The practical difficulty was to know where to cross the demarcation line between the occupied and unoccupied zones of France. When Michèle Cambards told Mary that her former governess was living on a farm that she had inherited from her parents at Sauveterre-de-Béarn, in the Pays-Basque and near the border with neutral Spain, she was despatched to the south to find out more. Two days later, she was back with the remarkable news that the governess’ farm actually straddled the demarcation line between the two zones of France. The farmhouse was on one side and the cowsheds on the other and the fields stretched well into unoccupied France. The governess would be delighted to help, and the farmer had suggested that the easiest way to cross would be for escapers to cross with the cows early in the day for the morning milking.


So, on her 18th birthday, a hot July day in 1940, Michèle initiated the escape line by leading her two young compatriots, Oky’s friends, on the first stage of their journey to join de Gaulle in England. Soon Oky had piloted his own first French escapers to the farm and a brisk traffic that was to last for several months had begun.6 Michèle recalled that in the first six months of the German occupation she and Maurice helped about fifty men to cross into the unoccupied zone of France, and that about a half of these were British. Before the line of demarcation was closed, the majority of the journeys were by train and Michèle and Maurice sometimes made the round trip two or even three times a week. It was exciting and they made a little pocket money by smuggling goods in the burgeoning black market.7


Mary financed operations with her own money, but she had a jolt when on 4 July she went to her branch of Lloyds Bank in the Boulevard des Capucines where, seeing German guards at the door, she walked by without faltering in her step. It was the same at the Paris branch of Westminster Bank. She returned to her flat frustrated, but grateful that she had kept her jewellery with her and not put that into any bank vault.


Mary turned to the American consulate for help, but there she was brushed off with the response that every Briton left in Paris was short of cash and she was not a special case. Being Mary, she decided to apply directly to the ambassador, but in the lobby of the embassy she met an old friend, 69-year-old Cecil Shaw. In 1939 the New York Times described Shaw as ‘Colonel Shaw of Paris’.8 To Mary, Shaw was a blimpish figure and, ever anxious to improve her social acquaintances, a ‘12th lancer’, but he was much more interesting than that.


Cecil Arthur Shaw lived at the Ritz Hotel, he was 6ft tall, balding with white hair at the sides, and a red nose which indicated his penchant for a lifestyle that was paid for by his American wife. Shaw’s many decorations included the Distinguished Service Order (DSO), won heroically in 1901 during the Boer War.9 He became an amateur film-maker in the First World War and transferred to the newly formed Royal Air Force, from which he retired on health grounds as a flight lieutenant in the stores department in 1922.


Shaw’s curious career is explained by the knowledge that before the First World War he had worked in military intelligence in India, South Africa and Rhodesia, where he had met ‘Uncle’ Claude Dansey. Dansey was a career intelligence officer who, in 1936, set up a shadow, secret intelligence agency which ran in parallel with the Secret Intelligence Service (SIS), and to which he recruited expatriate Britons who had settled into foreign communities and businessmen working for British companies abroad. Shaw was almost certainly one of Dansey’s agents recruited into the Z Organisation.10
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